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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY

ROBERT J. ROVETTO, NICOLE A.

ROVETTO,
Plaintiffs, Civil Action No. 20¢v-2497
(IMV) (MF)
V.
OPINION

DAVID ALLEN DUBLIRER, WADE
ASHLEY FAWCETT, TOWER
MANAGEMENT SERVICES L.P., TOWER
MANAGEMENT SERVICES LLC, TOWER
MANAGEMENT FINANCING CORP.,
TOWER SPRING GARDENS LLC, TOWER
SPRING GARDENS ONE 2015 LLC, JOHN
DOE 1-5, JOHN DOE CORP/LLC-5,

Defendants

John Michael Vazquez, U.S.D.J.

In this matter Plaintiffs allege that Defendants improperly compereshand terminagd
Plaintiff Robert Rovettand alsonadefalse and misleading statements about Plaint®f&sently
before the Court is Defendants’ motion to dismiss the Complaint pursuant to Fedea Guie
Procedure 12(b)(6). D.E. 19. The Court reviewed all the submissions in support and in
oppositiort and considered the motion without oral argument pursuant ter&dlile of Civil
Procedurer8(b) and local Civil Rule 78.1(b). For the reasons discussed below, the motion to

dismissis GRANTED.

! Defendantsbriefin support of their motion to dismiss will be referred to@sf: Br.,” D.E.19-
1; Plaintiffs’ letterbrief in opposition will be Opp.; D.E. 22, and Defendants’ reply brief will be
“Reply,” D.E. 23.
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l. FACTS2 AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Plaintiffs are proceedingro se The Complaint includenumerous factual allegations
stemming fom Plaintiff Robert Rovetto’s initial employment to hisrmination andthe Court
recounts only the factual background thppears toelate to Plaintiffs’ clairs.

Defendant David Allen Dublirers the Vice President of Asset Management at Tower
Management Service L.P. Compl. I 14. Defendant Wade Ashley Fawcett was the former
Superintendent of Spring Garden Apartments and is now the Director of Grounds and Maetena
of Tower Management Seréd..P. Id. § 15. Defendant Tower Management Service.P.2 and
Tower Management Servidel C areproperty management fisthat own, operate, and maintain
“numerous residential rental properties throughout New York, New Jersey and Reniasyld.

19 16-17 Defendant Tower Management Financing Ca@ Delaware Corporationid. § 18.
Thesethree Defendants are referred to collectively as “Towegeeid. §f 1618. Defendants
Tower Spring Gardens LLC, Tower Spring Gardens One 2015 LLC, and Tower Spring Gardens 1
LLC (collectively, “Spring Gardens’gre “residential apartmeabmplex[es] owned by . . . Tower
Management Service L.PJd. 11 19212

Plaintiff Robert Rvetto (“Robert”) is a former employee of Spring Garddds{ 24 73
Robert began workinign maintenancér Spring Gardens on June 30, 201d..91 24 On or around

July 21, 2011,Robert andPlaintiff Nicole Rovetto (“Nicole”) moved into a ondedroom

2 The factual background is taken from femplaint (“Compl.”) D.E. 1. When reviewing a
motion to dismiss, the Court accepts as true all-plethded facts in the complainEowler v.
UPMC Shadyside578 F.3d 203, 210 (3d Cir. 2009).

3 Defendants note that the Complaint improperly named Tower Management Service, L.P. as
“Tower Management Services, L:Pand Tower Management Service, LLC as “Tower
Management Services, LLC.” Def. Br. 1. The Court uses the names provided by Defendants.

4 The Complaint does not provide any description of Defendant D6es Defendant Does LLC
1-5. Compl. 1 22.
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apartment at Spring Gardens pursuant to an Employee Lease Agreém&n25. Nicoleis an
employee of Spring Gardershe“was hired to assist in various day to day operations within the
rental office as well as assisting timaintenance staff with cleaning units during their make ready
process” on July 8, 2013 and has not been discharged or termitcht®®6 Opp. 1.

On August 1, 2011, Robert assumed-tall” responsibility. Id. §27. Robertvason-call
for seven consecutive dagsa time his oncall weeksrotatedwith otheremployees.ld. While
on-call, Robert was required to answer any maintenancerea#ived outside of regular business
hours determine whethea given callconstituted a true emergency, and if so, respond to the
location of the emergency within fifteen minutes of receiving the ddll{ 28. Robert alleges
that he was not provided any additional compensation faratirshifts, except fothe time he
spent “physically attending to an emergency calll”{ 29.

When Robert inquired about compensationhigron-call shifts, Defendantsold him that
on-call responsibilities were part dhe job for which he was already paid, including his
apartment. Id. 1 30. Robert was on call for 62 weeks during the period of August 1, 2011 through
October 20, 2018Id. § 31. During this time, he received an average of three to five paid hours
for the weeks he was arall and in the event he did not work forty hours during a pay period, he
was paidan hourlyrate Id.

Plaintiffs requested and received an apartment transfer to-besivoom unit on January
30, 2012; they moved into the new unit on February 2, 20d.2f 32. On September 29, 2015,

Robert was promoted to the position of Superintendent for the Spring Gardens pra@petties

> The Complaint appears to indicate that the apartment was provided at a redycatthoagh
this is not entirely clear.
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received an increase in hourly payl. §44. On October 13, 2017, Robert receivadther pay
increase following an above average annual performance evalultidn51.

Robert requested to remove himself from thecalh rotationon June 1, 201&nd the
request was approvedd. §52. Plaintiffswere interested in purchasing a home of thein and
sent Dublirer an email on June 3, 2018, asking for clarification of rastmdtive rent
compensationld. 11 5253. In response hiey received a phone call from Fawcett who tbkem,
“You don’t get that money, your apartment is part of your jdd.”] 53. Plaintiffs allege that this
statement contradicted company policies. While Dublirer was at Spring Gardens on September
11, 2018Plaintiffs allege that he remarked to Robert that Nicole e#®daaludes because “she’s
all over the place.”ld. 1 58.

Plaintiffs closed on their new home on October 22, 2018 and vacated their SpringsGarde
apartment on October 28, 2018]. 159-60. Plaintiffs allege that there was an “admin rent”
deduction from Robert’'s Novembg@aycheckin the amount of $1,595, purportedly because
Plaintiffs did not turn in theiapartmenkeys; Plaintiffs maintain that they had in fact turned in
their keys.Id. §61. Plaintiffscontinuethat “[a]ll future gross pay was reduced by” $1,5%&5. 1
62.

After Plaintiffs moved out of their Spring Gardens unit, “Robert was required to stay on
property at Spring Gardens to be ready and available to work and avoid any travel delays that
would arise durindpis commute to work” when snow was predictédl. 63. Roberalleges that
hewas not compensated for staying might and when he asked about additional pay, Dublirer
replied “I don’t pay you to sleep.”ld. During the overnighstays Robertuseda vacant unit or
his desk and had to bring his own meals and sleeping neceskitie®n one occasion, he slept

on Fawcett's couchld.
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In May 2019, Plaintiffs had a death in the family and Robert contacted Dublirer fip noti
him thatPlaintiffs would be out of work for the next three daylsl.  65. Roberinformedthe
property manager and maintenance staff, el staff understood what tasks needed to be
completed while Robert was outid. Robert further indicatedhat he could be reached by
telephone if neededd. Fawcett texted Robert that afternoon and said “I'll just tell [Dubliter]
your aunt, it sounds better,” and suggested that RoberfDighlirer] you had direct involvement
in making the funeral arrangents” because “it soundetter.” Id. 1166-67. Fawcett indicated
that Dublirer was “pissed [Robert] took three days off of work™@hdnNicole contacted Fawcett
about the situatignFawcett told her “Rob dropped the ball” and “[tlhere was no excoise f
[Robert]to take 3 days off” because Fawcett only took off 1 day when his grandmothetdlied.
1 67. Robert then contacted Dublirer; Dublirer assured Rdhathe was notipsetbut neededo
determinewvhether Robert would receive bereavement paf/personal days would be deducted.
Id. 7 68. Dublirer toldRobert higRobert’s)job was secureld.

On July 30, 2019, Robert sustained a minor injury at work am@ccordance with
companyprocedure, reported it to the property manaddr.| 70. Robert indicated thae did
not require medical attentiond. The property manager filed an incident report and instructed
Robert not to return to work until he had a physician’s clearaitte Robert therscheduled a
medicalappointmentld. §70. While Robert was waiting to see the doctor, an issase between
the insurance company and the dostooffice concerning the workers’ compensation
authorization, however, the issuaswltimately resolved, Robert saw his doctor, and he was
cleared to return to workid. I 72.

Robert returned to work the next daynd Dublirer fired him.Id. §73. Robert received a

call from the property manager while driving home and was informed that Dublireérhiime
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“because he found out about a pay lawstitd. §74. The Complaint alleges that Dublirer told
other maintenance staff employees not to have any communication with Robert becéhese “he
litigations against us.'ld. 175. Robert learned that before he was fired, Dublirer made a formal
police report about Robert allegedly making a threéat.y 76. The police told Dublirer that his
claim did not amount to an unlawful threat;, Dublirer “proceeded with his accusation” and
requested that an officer be present during Robert’s termindtorRlaintiffs allege that Fawcett
“continued to make false claims” to Spring Gardens residents abbattR®aermination and told
them that Robertsaid something to the manager that was threatening toward the VP of the
company.”Id. 180. Moreover, Plaintiffs allege that Fawtdeld employees and residents that he
heard Robert had a deposition coming lgh.{ 81.

Plaintiffs filed their Complaint on March 6, 2020. D.E. 1. The Complaint inclega®n
claims some of which include subaats.” Claim Onealleges aetaliatory discharge in violation
of 29 U.S.C. § 215(a)(3). Compl. T 84laim Two alleges “theft of wages” and includes
subcounts: Subcountkserts a claim for ecall time pursuant tdl.J. Admin. Code § 12:56.6(b)
and -5.7andSubcount If asserts a claim for sleep time pursuargacC.F.R. § 785.26t seq Id.
19 8587. Claim Three alleges incorrect overtime compensation pursuant to 29 U.S.C. 8 216(b
Id. 11 8889. Claim Fouralleges “false statement and concealment of facts” pursmas8 U.S.C.

§81962.1d. 190 Claim Five alleges “false information and hoaxes” pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1038

® The Complaint does not provide any additional information as the stated lega) muatheas
whether Robert had actually filed a lawsuit and, if so, the basis for the sui

" The Court notes that a Complaint should not include subcounts witlims it should assert
only standalone counts. Because Plaintiffs are proceg@dinge the Courtwill consider each
subcount raised as an individual clairi.Plaintiffs decide to file an amended complaint, they
should make clear which specific counts they are raising.

8 The Complaint skips over a second subcountanels thisallegationas Subcount Ill. The
Court will refer to thisSubcount .
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Id. 1 91 Claim Six alleges “false statement and concealment” pursuant to 18 U.S.C..8d027
1 92 Claim Seven allegeslefamation/slander” pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 4401 includesix
subcounts which eactsserta different instance of defamation or slandek. 1 93100,
Defendantsesponded with the present motion to dismiss. D.E. 19.
I. STANDARD OF REVIEW
Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6) permits a court to dismiss a complaint that fails
“to state a claim upon which relief can be granted.” For a complaint to survivesshsmnder
Rule 12(b)(6), it must contain sufficient factual matter to state a claim that is éaosikis face.
Ashcroft v. Igbal556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009). A claim is facially plausible “when the plaintiff pleads
factual content that allows the court to draw itsasonable inference that the defendant is liable
for the misconduct alleged.”ld. Further, a plaintiff must “allege sufficient facts to raise a
reasonable expectation that discovery will uncover proof of [his] clain@ohnelly v. Lane
Constr. Corp, 809 F.3d 780, 789 (3d Cir. 2016). In evaluating the sufficiency of a complaint,
courts must separate the factual and legal elemémwiler, 578 F.3d 203, 210 (3d Cir. 2009).
While restatements of the elements of a claim are legal conclusions and ardithed to a
presumption of truttBurtch v. Milberg Factors, In¢662 F.3d 212, 224 (3d Cir. 2011), the Court
“must accept all of the complaint’s wglleaded facts as trudsbwler, 578 F.3d at 210. However,
“[e]ven if plausibly pled . . . a complaint will not withstand a motion to dismigeifacts alleged
do not state ‘a legally cognizable cause of actioR&gers v. New Jersg®017 U.S. Dist. LEXIS
111213, *3 (D.N.J. July 18, 2017) (quotiigrner v. J.P. Morgan Chase & GdNo. 147148,
2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 185621, at *2 (D.N.J. Jan. 23, 2015)).
Because Plaintifare proceedingpro se the Court construes the Complaint liberally and

holds it to “less stringent standards than formal pleadings drafted by lawyameés v. Kerner
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404 U.S. 519, 520 (1972Wiggs v. Att'y Gen.655 F.3d 333, 339 (3d Cir. 2011). The Court,
however, needot “credit a pro se plaintiff's ‘bald assertions’ or ‘legal conclusion&tohs v.
Yataurqg 984 F. Supp. 2d 273, 282 (D.N.J. 2013) (quokitayse v. Lower Merion Sch. Dis.32
F.3d 902, 906 (3d Cir. 1997)ro selitigants “still must allege sufficient facts in their complaints
to support a claim.”Mala v. Crown Bay Marina, Inc704 F.3d 239, 245 (3d Cir. 2013).

1. ANALYSIS

A. Nicole’s Standing as a Plaintiff

Defendants firsthallenge Nicole’s standing and argue that she should be dismissed as a
plaintiff. With respect to Claims One, Two, and Three, Defendant® dhgu Nicole “cannot
assert a persohalaim under thg¢Fair Labor Standards Act (“FLSA”)Yr the [New Jersey Wage
and Hour Law ‘(NJWHL")] . . . because she was not an employee of Tower during any relevant
time period.” Def. Br. 31. Defendants contend that Claims Four, Five, and Six are legally
unsustainable because they do not provide a private cause of action, and the subtidants wi
Claim Seven that pertain to Nicole are “weltside the lyear statute of limitations for defamation
claims.” Id. at 45.

Turning first to Nicole’s standing as a plaintiff for Counts Gheough Three, the
Complaintalleges that Nicole commenced employment with Defendants on July 8, 2013. Compl.
1 36. The Complaint does not allege any end date for Nicole’s employment with Defearutint
in their opposition brief, Plaintiffs indicate that “Nicole was never dischaeyedhated.” Opp.

1. Instead, Plaintiffs claim that following an inadverterbein December 2013, Nicole was told
not to return to work and that her employment status would be “inactive.” Compl. -3f] 37

Assuming thalNicole has sufficiently alleged that sl& an employee of Defendantee Court
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finds that the Complaint fisi to state a claim with respect to Nicdbe Claims One, Two, and
Three because nonetbieallegationgelated to these Claims involve mertain to her.

As for the remaining claims, Defendanasguments challenge the legal sufficiency of the
causesf action Because these arguments aoé specific to Nicolethe Court addresselkem
below.

B. Fair Labor Standards Act Claims

1. Sleep Time (Claim Two, Subcountl )®

In this Subcount, Plaintiffs allege that Rob&vas required to stay goroperty, overnight
when winter weather was forecasted. Without proper compensati@ompl.  87. Plaintiff
labels this claim as arising under 29 C.F.R .28, which provides that “[u]nder certain
conditions an employee is considered to be working even though some of his time is spent in
sleeping or in certain other activities.”

“Among the bedrock principles of the FLSA is the requirement that employers pay
employees for all hours workédSmiley v. E.I. DuPont De Nemours & C839 F.3d 325, 330
(3dCir. 2016). “It is well settled that under appropriate circumstances sleep time constitutes work
time. The work week ordinarily includesll the time during which an employee is necessarily
required to be on the employgipremises, on duty or at a prescribed work placBeaston v.
Scotland Sch. For Veterans’ Childres®3 F. Supp. 234, 236 (M.D. Pa. 1988) (quofmglerson

v. Mt. Clemens Pottery G828 U.S. 680, 690-91 (1946)).

® The Court notes thaDefendants’ motion to dismiss does not directly address Plaintiffs’
allegations that Robert should have been compensated for the nights he wasl tegslgep at
Spring Gardens when snow was in the forecast; however, Defendants rdmreigs Claim Two

so the Court will consider whether Plaintiffs have stated a claim for sleep taee EIDSA.

9
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Although Robert’s overnight hours maitimately be compensablne regulation cited in
the Complaint- 29 C.F.R. § 785.26 is not an independelior separatepasis for a claim. To
plausibly allege a claim for unpaid sleep time, Robert must bring a claim undé. FIO®
successfully stata FLSA claim, a plaintiff must .show ‘a failure to pay overtime compensation
and/or minimum wages to covered employeesdarris v. Scriptfleet, In¢.No. 114561, 2011
WL 6072020, *2 (D.N.J. Dec. 6, 2011)'he Complaint fails to specify whethdretallegedly
uncompensated sleep time was unpaid overtime or unpaid minimum wages. To statdla plausi
claim for unpaid overtime pursuant to 29 U.S.C. ,20plaintiff must sufficiently allege that in
a givenworkweek, he worked in excess of forty houBavis v. Abington MethHosp, 765 F.3d
236, 243 (3d Cir. 2014). There are no such allegations in the Complaint. Additionally, Robert
fails to plausibly allege a claim under 29 U.S8Q06for unpaid mininum wagebecause there is
no allegation that Robert did not receive the minimum wage for the hours of workfdreneet.
Thus, Plaintiffs fail to state a claim for under FLSAub8ountll of Claim Two is dismissed.

2. Improperly Compensated Overtime (Claim Three)

Claim Three alleges that Robert “only received overtime wages based on his[fcurrent
hourly rate, not total gross wages earned” because the value of his apartineasunat factored
into his overtime rateCompl. 1 889. Defendants argudat Robert’'s FLSA claim “is legally
deficient because Tower did not apply the reasonable value of his free reraalainredit toward
minimum wage and, as such, it is not properly included [as] part of his regular raterfiome.”
Def. Br. at 89.

Under the FLSA, “wage” is defined to include “the reasonable.cado the employer of
furnishing such employee with board, lodging, or other facilities, if such board, lodging, or other

facilities are customarily furnished by such employer tehgployeel]” 29 U.S.C. § 203(m)(1).

10
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This provision applies both when lodging is providedddition to a stipulated wage, and when a
charge for lodging is deducted from an employee’s wageC.2R.§ 531.29.

The Code of Federal Regulations providleat the FLSA fequires that the employee
receive compensation for overtime hoursatate of not less than one and -bvadf times the
regular rate at which he is employ&and that when “an employee who receives the whole or
part of his or her wage in facilities and it becomes necessary to determinetitve pbwages
represented by facilities, all such facilities must be measured by the requiremetsoof 3(m)
and subpart B of this pdrt.ld. § 531.37(a). Subpart B explains that

[w]here deductions are made from the stipulated wage of an
employee, the regular rate of pay is arrived at on the basis of the
stipulated wage before any deductions have been made. Where
board, lodging, or other facilities are customarily furnished as

additions to a cash wage, the reasonable cost of the facilities to the

employer must be considered as part of the employee’s regular rate
of pay.

d. § 531.37(b).

The Complaint includes allegations that pertain toviddee of theSpring Gardens units
that were provided to Robert and NicadeeCompl. 1 286, 3233, however, absent from the
Complaint are any allegations about Robert’'s hourly wage, whether it was aboetowr b
minimum wage, and whether deductions were made fismpay for the furnished apartments or
if the apartments were provided in addition to a cash wagedrafted, the Complaint fails to
plausibly allege a FLSA violationClaim Three is dismissed.

3. Retaliatory Discharge (Claim One)

Plaintiffs assert tha“Defendants willfully violated [their] protected rights under the
[FLSA]” pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 215(a)(3). Compl. 1 &kfendants argue that Robert’s claim
for retaliatory discharge must be dismissed because the Complaint failsge fak#s which
demonstrate the prima facie elements of a viable claim. Def. Br. 5.

11
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Pursuant to FLSA, it is

“unlawful for any person . . . to discharge or in any other manner

discriminate against any employee because such employee has filed

any complaint or instituted or caused to be instituted any proceeding

under or related to this Act, or has testified or is about to testify in

any such proceeding, or has served or is about to serve on an

industry committeé.
29 U.S.C. § 215(a)(3)To state grima facieFLSA retaliation claim, a plaintiff must plead facts
demonstrating1l) thatthe employee engaged in protected activity; (2) adverse action by the
employer either after or contemporaneous with the employee’s protected activif8) archusal
connection btween the protected activity and the adverse actvarra v. Phila. Hous. Auth.
497 F.3d 286, 300 (3d Cir. 2007).

The Complaint fails tsufficiently allege that Robedngaged in protected activity. There
is no allegation that he “filed any complaint or instituted or caused to betedtany proceeding”
under FLSA. “To fall within the scope of the antiretaliation provision, a complaint must be
sufficiently clear and detailed for a reasonable employer to understaméight of both content
andcontext, as an assertion of rights protected by the statute and a call fprdtesition” Kasten
v. SaintGobain Performance Plastics Coyb63 U.S. 1, 14 (2011). In other words, “[tJo
constitute protected activity, the communication made by arloyeg must implicatéa good
faith, reasonable beliefhat a violation of the law existédRodriguez v. Ready Pac Produdio.
134634, 2014 WL 1875261, *8 (D.N.J. May 9, 2014) (citidkgpan v. Cort Furniture Rental
Corp,, 85 F.3d 1074, 1085 (3d Cir.1996)).

Plaintiffs allege that they asked Dublirer to clarify the company pabout administrative
rent compensation and that Dublirer told them they would not receive money. Compl. § 53. This

allegation is insufficient to plausibly allege tHalfaintiffs engaged in protected activity under

FLSA — asking to clarify a company policy, standing aloth@es not put a reasonable employer

12
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on notice that Plaintiffs seek to assert their rights under FLSA. The Complaint sutigests
that Robert mighbave been fired to threatening a company employeef{ 76, 80. Making a
threat is not be activity protectedderFLSA. Additionally, Plaintiffs allege that Robert was fired
“because [Dublirer] found out about a pay lawsud,” 74; however, the Complaint contains no
allegations that Robert didle a lawsuit. In fact, the Court cannot determine to what the “pay
lawsuit” refers, as it is mentioned once in the CompldRubert therefore fails to plausibly plead
a FLSA retaliatiorclaim becauseénhas nosufficiently alleged that he engaged in any protected
activity. Claim One is dismissed.

C. New Jersey Wage and Hour Law Claims

In Subcount of Claim Two, Plaintiffs allege theft of wages in violation of N.J. Admin.
Code § 12:56.6(b) and -5.7or not properly compensating Robert for oall” time. Defendants
contend that Robert’s theft of wages claim should be dismissed as “legaligntéfiecause it
“fail[s] to allege facts sufficient to demonstrate that the time he spefmaitirwithout performing
work [was] compensable.ld. at 7.

“The [NJJWHL is designed to ‘protect employees from unfair wages and excessive
hours.” Hargrove v. Sleepy’s, LLA06 A.3d 449, 458N.J. 2015) (quotingn re Raymour &
Flanigan Furniture 405 N.J. Super. 367, 376 (N.J. Super. Ct. App. Div. 2009)). The law
“esteblishes not only a minimum wage but also an overtime rate for each hour of vekeiss
of forty hours in any week for certain employeelsl” In addition the New Jersey Administrative
Code provides the following:

(a) When employees are not required to remain on the employer’s
premises and are free to engage in their own pursuits, subject only
to the understanding that they leave word at their home brtket

employer where they may be reached, the hours shall not be
considered hours worked. When an employee does go out on an on

13
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call assignment, only the time actually spent in making the call shall
be counted as hours worked.

(b) If calls are so frequent or the “@all” conditions so restrictive
that the employees are not really free to use the intervening periods
effectively for their own benefit, they may be considered as
“engaged to wait” rather than “waiting to be engaged”. In that event,
the waitng time shall be counted as hours worked.

N.J. Admin. Code § 12:56-5.6. The Code further providat
“[o]n-call” employees may be required by their employer to remain
at their homes to receive telephone calls from customers when the
company office is dsed.If “on-call” employees have long periods
of uninterrupted leisure during which they can engage in the normal
activities of living, any reasonable agreement of the parties for
determining the number of hours worked shall be accepiduxd
agreementlsall take into account not only the actual time spent in
answering the calls but also some allowance for the restriction on

the employees freedom to engage in personal activities resulting
from the duty of answering the telephone.

Id. 8 12:56-5.7.

When considering orctall time claims under the NJWHL, courts have appliedstrae
standards thdigovern the viability of a FLSA claim to recover wages owed focalh hours,”
finding that the NJWHL and the FLSA use “nearly identical language” in theiremmahting
regulations. SeeCannon v. Vineland Hous. Autl627 F. Supp. 2d 171, 175 n.4 (D.N2008)
(discussing N.J. Admin. Code. 8§ 12:565(b) and 29 C.F.R. § 553.221(d)). Four factors are
considered to determine whether-@all time is compensable: (1) “whether the employee may
carry a beeper or leave home”; (2) “the frequency of calls anshahee of the employer’s
demands”; (3) “the employee’s ability to maintain a flexiblecati schedule and switch arall
shifts”; and (4) “whether the employee actually engaged in personal astolitring orcall time.”
Ingram v. County of Buck$44 F.3d 265, 268 (3d. Cir. 1998). “If these factors reveal onerous on
call policies and significant interference with the employee’s personal life,bicall time is
compensableld.

14
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As drafted, the Complaint fails to state a clé&munpaid orcall ime. The provisions of
the New Jersey Administrative Code cited in the Complaint do not provide an independsnt c
of action— Plaintiffs instead must bring a claim under the NJWHL, which they have failed to do.
Absent from the Complaint are factudkglations that show whether and to what degree Robert’s
life was disrupted wike he was ortall, beyond the assertion that if a call was received, Robert
wasrequired to respond within fifteen minutdsl. § 28. For example, there are no allegations as
to whether Robert had to remain at Spring Garden whieatin how often he received and
responded to calls; whether Robert was able to switetathrshifts as necessary; and whether
Robert was able to engage in personal activities whileatin Withoutsuch allegations, Robert
has failed to demonstrate that hisaail time was compensable under the NJWHubcount | of
Claim One is dismissed.

D. Criminal Violations Pursuant to Title 18

Plaintiffs allege that Defendants made false and misleading statements andadinmsy
under Title 18 of the United States Code. Defendants contend that Claims Four, Five, and Six
must be dismissed because “Title 18 . . . is the main criminal codefetifral government” and
the statutes Plaintiffs invoke do not provide a private civil right of actior. BEdell.

Ordinarily, federal criminal statutes do not provide individuals with a private rightiohac
in a civil case.See, e.gWeeks v. Bvman No. 169050, 2017 WL 557332, at *2 (D.N.J. Feb.
10, 2017) (dismissing civil matter for lack of subject matter jurisdiction becansinal statutes
cited by the plaintiff did not create a private right of action). If a statute providegade ight
of action, however, an individual may “bring suit to remedy or prevent an injury thasrieuh
another party’s actual or threated violation of a legal requiremeéffishiewski v. Rodale, Inc.

510 F.3d 294, 296 (3d Cir. 2007).
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1. 18 U.S.C. § 1962 (faim Four)

Claim Four allegeghat “Defendants demanded Plaintiff seek medical clearance to return
to work after[a] minor workrelated injury, claiming it was the standard requirement of all
Workers Compensation Claims,” and thereby dfppsefully misle[d] Plaintiff to orchestrate the
future retaliatiorplan”in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1962. Compl.9D. Claim Four also states that
Plaintiffs “ask the court for relief and remedies recoverable for willfully providirigefa
statement[sand concealment of facts pursuant to N.J.S.A. § 34:15-39.1.”

18 U.S.C. § 1968etails “prohibited activiti€sunder the Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt
OrganizationgRICO) Act, 18 U.S.C. 88 196&t seq RICO providesa private right of action18
U.S.C. § 1964. The law provides that “[a]ny person injured in his business or property by reason
of a violation of section 1962 of this chapter may sue therefor in any appropnitétel States
district court and shall recover threefold the damages he sustains and thetmsudf including
a reasonable attorney’s {d¢ 18 U.S.C. 8§ 1964(c) To bring afederalcivil RICO claim in
accordance with 18 U.S.C. § 1962, a plaintiff must allege “(1) the conducting of,&@)eaprise,

(3) through a pattern, (4) of racketeering activityfGunter v. Ridgewood Energy Corf32 F.
Supp. 2d 166, 173 (D.N.J. 1998). To establish a “pattern of racketeering,” a plaintifflleysst a
“at least two predicate acts of racketeering ttaurred within ten years of each otheBlimm v.
Bank of Am. Corp 2013 WL 1867035, at *20 (D.N.J. May 2, 2013).

The New Jersey law cited in the Complaint is part of New Jera@ylgers’compensation

laws. The specific statutory provision referred to in the Compbaovides in relevant patthat
[i]t shall be unlawful for any employer or his duly authorized agent
to discharge or in any other manner discriminate against an
employee asothis employment because such employee has claimed
or attempted to claim workmen’s compensation benefits from such

employer, or because he has testified, or is about to testify, in any
proceeding under the chapter to which this act is a supplement.
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N.J. Stat. Ann. § 34:15-39.1.

Plaintiffs fail to state a claim under RICOThe Complaint contains no allegatiotiat
Defendants conducted an enterprise through racketeering activity esbtladentifytwo RICO
predicate offenses that occurred within the past ten ydasafar as Plaintiffs seek to assert a
claim for a violation oNew Jersey’s workers compensation lathiey have also failed to plausibly
plead such a claim. The Complaint does not include any alleg#tiattte Defendants engaged
in retaliatory acts or terminated Robert’s employment because he claimed or attenmgbaduh
workers’ compensation benefits. Instead, the Complaint contains factugtialies suggesting
that Robert was fad because of ‘ay lawsuit or because he made an unlawful threat. Compl.
19 74, 76, 80, 81. Claim Four is dismissed.

2. 18 U.S.C. § 1038 (Claim Five)

Claim Five alleges a violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1088 “false information or hoaxes.”
Specifically,it asserts that “Dublirer reported false and misleading facts to law enforcement und
false intentions as well as request[ed] police presence under false pretenses fa]ulisgasse
for terminations.” Compl. 1 91. 18 U.S.C. § 1088udes a provision allowing farivate civil
actions howeverthe provisionis inapplicableto the facts of this casel8 U.S.C. § 1038 provides
that

[w]hoeverengages in any conduct with intent to convey false or
misleading information under circumstances where such
information may reasonably be believed and where such
information indicates that an activity has taken, is taking, or will
take place that would constitute a violation of chapter 2, 10, 11B,
39, 40, 44, 111, or 113B of this title, section 236 of the Atomic
Energy Act of 1954 (42 U.S.C. 2284), or section 46502, the second
sentence of section 46504, section 46505 (b)(3) or (c), section 46506
if homicide or attempted homicide is involved, or section 60123(b)
of title 49 is liable in a civil action to any party incurring expenses

incident to any emergency or investigative response to that conduct,
for those expenses.
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18 U.S.C. 8§ 1038(b) Section 1038 was designed to prevent and punish phony bomb threats and
other such hoaxes where no real threat existed, but law enforcement time anda@ifdrbe
needlessly (and intentionally) sidetracked into looking for nonexist@apons and fictitious
imminent threat$. United States v. Brahnd20 F. Supp. 2d 619, 626 (D.N.J. 2007).

The Complaint alleges that Dublirer falsely reportedaw enforcemena threatening
statement allegedly made by Robert. Corfifil91, 76. These allegations do not state a claim
under 18 U.S.C. § 1038, and Count Five is dismissed.

3. 18 U.S.C. § 1027 (Claim Six)

Claim Six alleges a violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1087 “false statement and concealment of
facts in relation to documents required by the Employee Retirement Income SeAutitieEhis
criminal statute does not create a private cause of adiey.v. QusimNo. 1916349,2020 WL
4364332 *2 n.1 (D.N.J. July 29, 2020). Claim Six is dismisséth prejudice Seelackson v.
Bolandi No. 18-17484,2020 WL 255974, *7 (D.N.J. Jan. 17, 2020) (dismissing with prejudice
all claims a plaintiff tried to assert that lacked a private cause of action).

E. Defamation/Slander (Claim Seven)

Claim Seven includes si®ubcounts for defamation, which all arise under 28 U.§.C.
4101 Defendants argue that Nicole should be dismissed as a plaintiff for the defamation and
slander claims because “only subcounts | and Il make any reference to fimer]sione of the
relevant allegations “are legally sufficient to sustain a defamation claim.” Hdefat 45.
Moreover, Defendants argue that “both alleged incidents occurred well outsiigehe statute
of limitations for defamation claim.fd. at 5. As for Robert, Defendants argue that Claim Seven’s

six subcounts “are legally deficieahd must be dismissedId. at12.
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28 U.SC. § 4101 is a provision of the Securing the Protection of our Enduring and
Established Constitutional Heritage Act (SPEECH A28,U.S.C. 88 410%t seq. which was
enacted to prohibit recognition and enfontent of foreign defamation judgments and certain
foreign judgments against the providers of interactive computer sefvigesuring the Protection
of our Enduring and Established Constitutional Heritage Pab. L. No. 114223, 124 Stat. 2380
The statutory provision cited in the Complaint provides a definition of “defamgthowever,

“[d] efamation is not a federal statutory cause of actiétaul v. Christie No. 162364,2017 WL
2953680, *20 (D.N.J. June 30, 2017).

Insofar as Plaintiffs inteded to allege a defamation claim under the common tlaey,
have failed to plausiblgio so To plead defamation, a plaintiff madlegethat (1) a false statement
was made concerning her; (2) the statement was published to a third party atiteneise
privileged; (3) the publisher was at least negligent in publishing the stateanedn4) damages.
Robles v. U.S. Bal. Universal Sers, Inc, 469 Fed. Appx. 104, 109 (3d Cir. 2012) (citing
DeAngelis v. Hill847 A.2d 1261, 12688 (N.J.2004)). Under New Jersey law, in a “complaint
charging defamation, plaintiff must plead facts sufficient to identify the defamatory ,viloeds
utterer and the fact of their publication.Zoneraich v. Overlook Hospb14 A.2d 53,63 (N.J.
Super. Ct. App. Div. 1986). A vague conclusory allegation is insufficient to plausibly plead
defamation.ld.

Subcount | alleges that Waett “misused his position and power by providing statement[s]
to convince Plaintiff to assume it wasn’t in their best interest. Additionatigiohating to believe
it would jeopardize [Robert’s] position.” Compl. § 93. This subcapparentlyrefers to
allegations in the Complaint’s statement of facts detailing that Nicole madéa&eras workwas

told not to return to workand had her employee status changed to “inactive” until another position
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was found for her.ld. § 3639. Subcount Il allges that “Dublirer held no merit in criticizing
Nicole in an emotional state,” apparently referring to Dublirer's comment that Nieelded
Qualuudes.ld. 11 94, 58. Subcount Il alleges that “Fawcett maliciously misused hisgpotsiti
make false accasions regarding the time off work” and that Fawcett intended “to defame Robert’s
credibility as a responsible, dedicated employee within Tower.f 95. This claim purportedly
relates to the factual allegations concerning Robert’s request to takaftfiorea family member’s
funeral. Id. 11 6569. Subcount IV alleges that Fawcett “maliciously disclosed” to Dublirer that
Plaintiffs intended'to pursue legal action for wages owed . . . in retaliation to deflect his own
reprimand by Dublirer” which “limately caused the retaliatory discharge of employmelatt. Y|
96. Subcount V alleges that Dublirer violated company policy by (1) “publicly tetimjf@obert
in an open area of the property” where employees and the general public carde pl2)
“making false statements to police, altering Robert’s true reputation,” and (®)dipg false
information to Tower employees” and Robert’s litigation against Tower{ 9799. Finally,
Count Vlallegesthat “Fawcett continues to make false, misrepresented statements” to residents
of Spring Gardens and current and former Tower employiee$§. 100.

These conclusory allegations do mpitadthe required elements of a defamation claim.
The Court dismisses Claim Seven in its entirdtlye Court also notes that some of these subcounts
appear to be time barredinder New Jersey law, “[egry action at law for libel or slander shall
be commenced within 1 year next after the publicatioth@falleged libel or sland&rN.J. Stat.

Ann. § 2A:14-310

101n light of the foregoing analysis, the Court does not reach the additional arguments raised by
Defendants.
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V. CONCLUSION
For the reasons stated above, Plaintiff's motiaigmisss GRANTED. D.E. 19 Claims
One, Two, Three, Four, Five, and Severlaintiffs’ Complaintaredismissed without prejudice
pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6)Jaim Six is dismissed with prejudice.
Plaintiffs are granted leave to ame@tims One, Two, Three, Four, Five, and Seaad have
thirty (30) days to file mamended complaint consistent with this Opintérif Plaintiffs fail to
do so,these Claimswill be dismissed with prejudice. An appropriate Order accompanies this

Opinion.

Dated:November 30, 2020

( Mo~
Que WO NF9 ¢
John Michael Vazquez, UB.J

1 The Courtagainemphasizes that if Plaintiffs amend their Complaint, they should assert
separateountsrather than claims containirsgibcounts.
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